
MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 
MEETING 

 
9.00 AM MONDAY, 12TH MAY, 2014 

 

COUNCIL CHAMBER 
 
This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 
(01685) 725203 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 Members of the Rights of way Committee are 
reminded of their personal responsibility to declare 
any personal and prejudicial interest in respect of 
matters contained in this agenda in accordance 
with the provisions of the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct. 
 
Note: 
 

a. Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest; and  

 
b. Where Members withdraw from a meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave.  

 



  
 

3. Basic Guidance on the law relating to Orders to be 
made under Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
Section 257  

 

 For information.   
 

(Pages 1 - 2) 

4. Guidance on the law relating to the extinguishment 
of public rights of way under the Highways Act 
1980  

 

 For information.  
 

(Pages 3 - 6) 

5. Cyfarthfa 62   

 To consider a report of the Director of Customer 
Services.   
 

(Pages 7 - 12) 

6. Vaynor 25   

 To consider a report of the Director of Customer 
Services.   
 

(Pages 13 - 40) 

7. Vaynor 33   

 To consider a report of the Director of Customer 
Services.   
 

(Pages 41 - 42) 

8. Vaynor 34   

 To consider a report of the Director of Customer 
Services.   
 

(Pages 43 - 44) 

9. Vaynor 35   

 To consider a report of the Director of Customer 
Services.   
 

(Pages 45 - 50) 

10. Any other Business   

 
 
 

  
COMPOSITION: Councillors C T Jones (Chair)  
  
 B E Mansbridge, T Chaplin, D Isaac and K Moran 

 
 together with appropriate officers 
  



If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725203 

 
Os byddai’n well gennych gopi o’r agenda hwn mewn iaith arall, cysylltwch a 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk neu ffoniwch 01685 725203 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 

 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 
 

Date Written 11th February 2014 

Report Author Geraint Morgan  

Committee Date 12th May 2014 

 

 
 
To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Basic Guidance on the law relating to Orders to be made under 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 section 257 
 

It is possible for a Council to make an Order under s257 Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 to stop up or divert highways that are affected by development for which planning 

permission has been granted. 

 

For the power to be exercisable the local authority must be satisfied that it is necessary to 

stop up or divert the way in order to enable development to be carried out. It is not 

sufficient that the making of the order would facilitate the carrying out of the 

development. The order must be necessary in the sense that without the order 

development could not be carried out.  

 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



Page 2

This page is intentionally left blank



MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 

 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 
 

Date Written 11th February 2014 

Report Author Geraint Morgan  

Committee Date 12th May 2014 

 

 
 
To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Guidance on the law relating to the extinguishment of public 
rights of way under the Highways Act 1980 
 

The following is to remind Members of the criteria for the making of 
the Order and to offer some guidance.  
 
Often the legal test requires the Committee to be satisfied as to the 
expediency of something. It is suggested that for something to be 
expedient it is appropriate and suitable to the circumstances and may 
incline towards being of an advantage even if not particularly fair. 
Something which is expedient would seem to facilitate your achieving 
a desired end. 

TO MAKE AN ORDER 

To be satisfied that it is expedient that the path be stopped up on the 
ground that the footpath or bridleway is not needed for public use. 

 
To have due regard to firstly the needs of agriculture and forestry, 
secondly the desirability of conserving flora and fauna and thirdly 
geological and physiographical features. 
 
To confirm the order if unopposed or seek confirmation from the 
Secretary of State (at a Public Inquiry) if the order is opposed. 
 
To be satisfied that it is expedient to do so. 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 3



 
To have regard to the extent to which it appears that the path would 
be likely to be used by the public. 
 
To have regard to the effect which the extinguishment would have as 
respects land served by the path (compensation can be taken into 
account). 
 
Where the Order is linked with a Creation Order or a Diversion Order 
then the Authority or Inspector can have regard to the extent to which 
the Creation Order or Diversion Order would provide an alternative 
path. 

That there is no apparatus belonging to or used by statutory 
undertakers under in, upon, over, along or across the land crossed by 
the present definitive route unless the statutory undertakers have 
consented to the confirmation of the Order (consent not to be 
unreasonably withheld). 

 

GUIDANCE 

 
Temporary circumstances preventing or diminishing the use of the 
path shall be disregarded. These include obstructions, which are 
likely to be removed. Trees and 4 feet wide hedges have been held to 
be temporary and even an electricity sub-station. Many obstructions 
seem therefore to be able to be disregarded but this does make it 
difficult to assess what the use of the path would be if the obstruction 
were not there.  
 
To be satisfied that it is expedient to confirm means that other 
considerations other than use could be taken into account perhaps 
safety, perhaps cost. 
 
An Order can be confirmed if it is thought that, despite the fact that it 
was likely to be used, it is not needed because of a convenient path 
nearby. 
 
 
 

Page 4



Councils are advised to take care to avoid creating a cul-de-sac when 
extinguishing only part of a way. 
 
The reference to having regard to needs of agriculture includes the 
breeding or keeping of horses. 
 
 

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 07th April 2014 

Report Author Beth Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 12th May 2014 

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Cyfarthfa 62 
 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 
 
To inform Councillors the need to divert on a permanent basis a section of 
Public Right of Way Cyfarthfa 62 (The Taff Trail) under section 257 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 In accordance with section 257 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

the County Borough Council may make an Order diverting a footpath if 
it is satisfied that it is necessary to do so to enable development to be 
carried out in accordance with a planning permission that has been 
granted. The legal tests for the making of an Order under section 257 
are at Agenda Item 3. 

 
1.2 An application has been submitted by the Physical Regeneration team 

requesting that an order be made under section 257 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act to divert the northern section of Public Right of 
Way Cyfarthfa 62 which is also a section of the Taff Trail. 

 
1.3 The diversion of the Taff Trail is required to accommodate the new 

road layout, one way system and development in front of the college. 
 
1.4 Full Planning permission for the scheme was granted on 30th May 2013 

under planning application number P/12/0336. 
 
1.5  A pre-order consultation has been carried out and no objections have 

been received. 
 

 

Agenda Item 5

Page 7



 

2.0 THE ROUTE 

 
2.1 The existing route is shown as a bold back line commencing at Point A, 

grid reference SO04700604 proceeding in a general southerly direction 
for approximately 554 metres to its termination at Point G, grid 
reference SO04930562. 

 
2.2 The proposed new alignment of Cyfarthfa 62 is shown as a dashed 

black line commencing at Point A, grid reference SO04700604 and 
proceeds in a general westerly direction for 80 metres to Point B,grid 
reference SO04620602. At this point it proceeds in a general south-
south-easterly direction for 76 metres to Point C,grid reference 
SO04650594. At this point it proceeds in a general westerly direction 
for approximately 7 metres to Point D,grid reference SO04630594. At 
this point it proceeds in a general south-south-easterly direction to 
Point E,grid reference SO04660586.It then proceeds in a curved south-
easterly direction for approximately 60 metres to grid reference 
SO04710584 at Point F where it rejoins the existing route and 
continues to terminate at Point G, grid reference SO04930562. 

 
2.3 The works on site must be completed before the confirmation of the 

order.  
 
2.4 No limitations or conditions exist on the proposed diversion. 
 
2.5 The proposed diversion is no less convenient to the public and will not 

affect their enjoyment of the Bridleway as a whole. The new surface 
will be an improvement for the users. 

 
2.6 The proposed diversion does not adversely affect the land served by 

the existing or proposed footpath. 
 
2.7 The proposal conforms to the aims and objectives within the Merthyr 

Tydfil County Borough Council’s Rights of Way Improvement Plan. 
 

3.0 ASSESSMENT 
 
3.1 This assessment is to assist Councillors in determining the application 

before them today; an application to divert Cyfarthfa 62. 
 
3.2 The diversion is necessary for the implementation of the new road 
 layout one way system and development in front of the college. 

 

 
 

Page 8



4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 

 
4.1 A notice advertising this order will need to be placed in the local 
 newspaper and on site. These costs will be met out of the existing 
 rights of way budget. 
 
4.2 Responsibility for maintenance of rights of way routes lies with the 
 Council as Highway Authority; the financial implication for the diverted 
 route is the same as for the original route. 
 
4.3 It is possible for the landowner to claim compensation under s28 
 Highways Act 1980 as applied by s121(2) Highways Act 1980.  

 

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of 
 this report and no negative effects have been identified at this stage. 

 

6.0 RECOMMENDATIONS(S) that  
 

(a)  Taking in to account all of the evidence which has been 
 provided to confirm the diversion of the northern section of 
 Cyfarthfa 62from the bold line as depicted on the Plan, between 
 Point A and Point F to the  dashed line as depicted on the Plan, 
 Cyfarthfa 62, between Point A – B – C – D– E-F. 

 
(b)  A Public Path Diversion Order be made to divert the footpath. 

   
(c)  To approve the confirmation of the Public Path Diversion Order 

 made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
 representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
 objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
(d)  If any objections or representations are made within the 

 prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
 the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
 determination. 

 
 

ELLIS COOPER 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
Cyfarthfa 62 

  
Unit 5 

 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 29th April 2014 

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 12th May 2014 

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

VAYNOR 25 
 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 
 
To further consider the options available with regard Vaynor 25. 
 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 Vaynor 25 is recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement for Merthyr 
 Tydfil County Borough Council as follows “Map Nos: SO.00 Footpath 
 from the A470 Trunk Road in Cefn Coed leading south to Job’s Lane; 
 approximately 283 metres in length”.  It is shown on the plan, Vaynor 
 25. 
 
1.2 On the 13th February 2014 a report was presented to the Rights of Way 
 committee (copy attached) in which the Rights of Way Committee 
 recommended “the necessary pre consultation exercise with regard 
 extinguishment of the footpath is undertaken; and the matter be 
 returned to the next available rights of way committee”. That report is 
 appended to this item. 
 
1.3 This pre-consultation exercise took place between the 6th March and 
 the 21st March 2014. 
 
1.4 The following responses were received:- 
 

A. COUNCILLOR HOWARD BARRETT 
 
 This path has been in dispute for a long time with the land owner 
 (locked gate), so how can the ROW state the one of the reasons for 
 closure is the lack of usage by the public.  On Monday (17th March) the 
 Vaynor Forum was notified of the decision which wasn’t received very 

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 13



 favourable.  This prompted an organised walk (attached email) on 
 Vaynor 25 on Thursday (20th March), this walk with difficulty has taken 
 place but I am waiting for more opinions from various groups who did 
 the walk. 
 Therefore I am against the decision to have the path closed at this time 
 and until I receive more information off both sides (ROW officers and 
 the local interest parties). 
 
 B.  COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
 
 Councillor Mytton supports Councillor Barrett’s comments. 
 
 C. LYNN ASHRAF 
 
 At the Vaynor forum meeting held last Monday we were told that there 
 is a proposal to close a footpath (Vaynor 25) in Cefn Coed.  Our local 
 Councillors Howard Barrett and Lisa Mytton have received letters dated 
 6th March from Cheryl Jones of the Rights of Way (R of W) department 
 with notice of the proposed closure of Vaynor 25.  Members of the 
 community or concerned groups had until Friday 21st to respond and 
 object, which the VF did.  As far as I know the Naturalists (Nats) had no 
 knowledge of the imminent closure.  Had I not happened to be at the 
 VF meeting, the Nats would have known nothing about the proposed 
 closure until it was too late to take action.  This is absolutely 
 unacceptable. 
 
 At the VF meeting about a year ago, two members of the R of W team 
 were present but were adamant that they were only there to observe 
 and not to comment.  They must have been aware of the strength of 
 feeling from the Nats, MT Ramblers and residents about blocking of the 
 footpath.  It was a very heated discussion, and yet, even with the rule 
 of law on our side and the strength of the local opinion, nothing has 
 been done to force the opening of the path. 
 
 The footpath in question has a gated entrance at the south end which 
 has been locked for several years, during which time we have been 
 trying (through R of W) to have it re-opened, without success.  The 
 letter to the councillors did say that ‘...as it is no longer required for 
 public use... we propose to extinguish the footpath’. 
 It is definitely required for public use, we made that absolutely clear at 
 the meeting she attended. 
 
 The footpath is an important link in a trail planned to connect our two 
 reserves, Cilsanws, and across the valley Penmoelallt woodland – but 
 the blocking of the footpath in question has prevented us from creating 
 the trail. 
 
 A group of VF and Nats members tried in vain to walk it a few days ago 
 but we were blocked by an overgrown tree at the northern end and 

Page 14



 thick brambles at the southern end. It is completely inaccessible and 
 no-one from the council has attempted to do anything about it.   
 
 I have looked on the Welsh Assembly Gov web site about regulations 
 for changing use or closing a right of way and it clearly states that.... 
 
 Local Authorities must... 

• Publish notices of all orders in a local paper 
  Has this been done and if so, when? 

• Display then by the path 
We found no evidence of notices 

• Display the notices at principal council offices in the area 
Has this been done? 

 Other questions that need answering:- 
 
 Why has the path been allowed to become impassable? 
 Why has the R of W team allowed it to remain locked for years? 
 Why has the R of W team been (in my opinion) completely unhelpful 
 and have, I believe, refused to attend a meeting of the VF to give us an 
 explanation for the reasons for the possible closure of the footpath? 
 Why is there no sign post at the south end of the path – there used to 
 be one there. 
 And finally, has anyone in the R of W dept read MTCBC’s web site 
 under ‘Rights of Way’? Here it is:- 
 
 Council responsibilities 
 

• Keeping public rights of way clear of undergrowth 

• Strimming and routine maintenance 

• Assisting landowners with maintenance of stiles and gates 

• Waymarking paths to help users find their way 

• Maintaining most bridges and culverts 
 
 Landowner / Occupier responsibilities 
 

• Keeping any rights of way on their land clear of overgrowth (i.e. 
hedge outgrowth across the path) 

• Maintaining any stiles and gates which are needed on the path 

• Keeping the path free from obstruction – including growing crops 

• Not ploughing field edge paths, or any restricted byway or 
byway 

• Reinstate cross-field paths after ploughing etc (in accordance 
with the Rights of Way Act 1990) 

 
 The council has a responsibility to ensure that rights of way are kept 
 free of obstruction and that their surface is kept in a reasonable 
 condition. 
 

Page 15



 The council has a duty to protect the rights of the public to use and 
 enjoy rights of way and to ensure that they remain open and usable at 
 all times.  The Council offer advice on blocked or disputed public rights 
 of way, and, where appropriate will take necessary action. 
 
 There is a right to pass and re-pass along highways at all times.  
 Footpaths and Bridleways are highways.  They only differ from other 
 forms of highway, such as roads, by the type of traffic entitled to use 
 them.  Lack of use has no effect on the legal existence of a Right of 
 Way. 
 
 The council also work with land owners / occupiers over which a path 
 exists making sure they are free from: 

• Obstruction 

• Danger 

• Blocking 

• Interference 
 
 How can this be written on your web site when there is total disregard 
 of many of its points by your staff? 
 
 We will fight this closure to the end.  We cannot understand how and 
 why this decision was ever made. 
 Regards, Lynn Ashraf 
 
 A response was sent to Mr Ashraf on 3rd April. A copy of the Council’s 
 response is attached.  
 
 With regard the footpath being an important link between the 2 
 reserves an application to record a public right from the Grawen Road 
 end of the public right was received on 16th January 1991. This would 
 lead to Penmoelallt. This application is yet to be determined. With
 regard the Cilsanws end there is a public right of way known as Vaynor 
 24 which is on the Upper High Street approximately 50 metres away 
 from Vaynor 25 and on the opposite side of the road leading towards 
 Merthyr Tydfil.    
 
 Further correspondence was received from Mr Ashraf on 25th April: 
 
 Thank you for your reply, I have looked back in my inbox and no email 
 from anyone at the council arrived on that date. I have one more 
 update for you, at a meeting last evening of the Naturalists we 
 discussed the footpath and we are willing to take on the cost and time 
 for the upkeep of the path in the future   
 
 D. VAYNOR FORUM 
 
 We note that you are unable to attend the Forum meeting on 14th April 
 2014.  To facilitate a full and factual debate could you possibly forward 

Page 16



 via the ward members a copy of your minutes or notes outlining the 
 reasons why the local authority are contemplating closure. 
  
 A dozen or so members attempted to walk the footpath on Thursday 
 20th March and the reasons that FP25 remains unused is that it is 
 either blocked or locked off and overgrown as illustrated on the 
 attached photographs. 
  
 Members will be recommending to the full meeting that the Vaynor 
 Community Forum request that MTCBC carry out their statutory duties 
 in line with the Web Site printed overleaf and:- 
 

• Remove the iron gate at Grawen Lane and erect sign posts 
indicating that a footpath exists. 

• Clear the footpath of vegetation overgrowth and lay a walk able 
surface. 

• Remove the steel post and rail stile some 20 metres in the 
Upper High Street end which acts as physical and physiological 
barrier.  Could you please inform us from your records when and 
by whom this obstruction was erected.  The obstruction debars 
all but very fit and ambulant persons from climbing it and 
proceeding further.  (This may have been an attempt to stop 
animal trespass, previously a problem in the area). 

• Reset the stone stile at Upper High Street in its original position 
at pavement / ground level.  It appears to have been 
substantively raised on a brick plinth and then back filled to a 
rear height of a metre forming a banked hurdle. 

  
 We are informed that the Old Vaynor & Penderyn RDC & Vaynor 
 Community Council maintained the footpaths on a two year 
 maintenance cycle. 
 Yours truly 
 Phillip Griffiths  
 Hon. Sec. Vaynor Community Forum 
 (4 photographs attached – these are appended at the end of this 
 report). 
 
 A response was sent to the Vaynor Forum on 3rd April 2014.  A 
 copy of the Council’s response is attached.  
 
 E. JOHN GRIFFITHS 
 
 Regarding the right of way that runs adjacent to and through my land, I 
 would like draw your attention to the following: 
 

i. I have always maintained that the right of way is unsafe and that 
this has always been of great concern to me.  I first notified the 
right of way department of my concerns many years ago. 

Page 17



ii. There has always been some debate about who would provide 
insurance cover for a person who could potentially (and in my 
view likely) become injured on the right of way. 

iii. I have owned the land for 14 years and for the first 2 years the 
right of way was unlocked, and the only people to attempt to use 
it were teenagers who used it as a hiding place to participate in 
their drug and alcohol abuse.  At that time I spoke to a member 
of the local constabulary about the situation and was advised 
that I should secure the entrance. 

iv. Following that a gate was put on and locked to stop these 
teenagers going in. 

v. Since then not one person has attempted to use the right of 
way.  In fact in the last 3 months the gate has been unlocked 
and no one has attempted to enter or walk the right of way.  I am 
aware of this as the periphery of my security cameras covers the 
entrance of the right of way. 

If I can be of further assistance please don’t hesitate to contact me. 
 
Further correspondence was received later that day stating the following:- 
 

1. One of the gates was already in place when I bought the property. 
2. Contrary to some opinions the right of way goes nowhere.  It is also in 

a better condition now than it was prior to my occupation, and supports 
various wildlife such as foxes, rabbits, snakes and various birds. 

3. I have never been against genuine ramblers, but I have had a fear of a 
serious accident occurring at the quarry which has a 30ft drop.  Hence 
my request for insurance cover. 

4. This campaign to maintain an unused and extremely dangerous right of 
way is driven not by genuine ramblers, but by fishermen etc, with the 
support of the Vaynor forum and local councillors.  And prior to the last 
few weeks these people have never attempted to use the right of way 
even though it has been open for a significant amount of time. 

 
If I can be of further assistance please don’t hesitate to contact me. 

 
 F. SUZANNE JONES (via email) 
 
 I welcome the council proposal to close the right of way on the 
 following grounds:- 
 

1. During the 19 years I have lived at the adjoining property (Nantsiarad) I 
have rarely seen it used, in fact, no more than 3 or 4 times during this 
period. 

2. I understand that it leads to a dead end. 
3. As it is the Council’s duty to clear it of undergrowth every year it is a 

needless expense at a time when Council needs to cut costs in line 
with Government instructions.  This may help keep my annual Council 
Tax at an acceptable level. 

Page 18



4. Although crime is not a common event in this area the right of way 
does allow those with criminal intentions to gain unseen access at the 
rear of my property. 

5. If closed the right of way path will revert to the wild thus allowing a 
natural habitat to flourish encouraging increased bird life. 
 
I can understand the reluctance of ramblers and walkers to see any 
right of way closed but in this instance they must surely bow to 
common sense and recognise that closure will not cause any real loss. 
 
G. GLENYS GOUGH (via email) 

 

 I have not seen anyone using this footpath during my time of living 
 here. This goes back to 1976. 
  
 Further to our conversation I have NO objection to the proposed 
 extinguishment of the footpath going diagonally across my property.   

 
 
1.5 Members are referred to the previous report and in light of the 
 comments that have been received in relation to the pre-consultation 
 exercise at 1.4 A – G above they are requested to pay particular 
 attention to paragraphs 16, 17 and 18 of the said report. Members are 
 also referred to the legal background for an extinguishment order which 
 is to be found at Agenda Item 4 and the council’s enforcement policy 
 which  is to be found in background papers. Members are also referred 
 to the Council’s Gating Policy which is also to be found in background 
 papers. 
 

2.0 ENFORCEMENT, DIVERSION OR EXTINGUISHMENT 
 
2.1 Although not recommended at the last meeting of the Rights of 
 Way Committee members are again advised, as in the previous 
 report at paragraph 20, that there are 3 options available to the 
 Council which need to be considered. These are enforcement, 
 extinguishment or diversion.  
 
2.2 The legal background for an extinguishment order is to be found at 
 Agenda Item 4. The council can have only one reason in law under 
 s118 Highways Act 1980 for making a public path extinguishment order 
 and that is that it appears to it expedient on the ground that the 
 footpath, bridleway or restricted byway is not needed for public use. A 
 slightly different test of expediency has to be applied on the 
 confirmation of an order and that is that it is expedient to do so having 
 regard to the extent to which it appears that the path or way would be 
 likely to be used by the public and having regard to the effect which the 
 extinguishment would have on the land crossed by the path. Regard 
 must also be had to the rights of way improvement plan.    
 

Page 19



2.3 Members considered diversion at the last meeting and considered that 
 this would not be appropriate.    

3.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 

 
3.1 Should members decide that the footpath be extinguished a notice 
 advertising this order will need to be placed in the local 
 newspaper and on site.  These costs will be met out of the existing 
 budget. 
 
3.2  Should members opt for an extinguishment order it is possible that a 

 Public Inquiry would follow and an Inspector could award costs 
 against the local authority. The amounts awarded against the local 
 authority are not known as these are at the discretion of the 
 Inspectorate. 
 

3.3 Members are advised that there will be financial implications should the 
 council decide to take enforcement action. These costs are not 
 quantifiable at present but these may be recovered. 
 

4.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of 
 this report and no negative effects have been identified. 
 

5.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 

 
EITHER 
 
5.1 Enforcement action be taken to clear the right of way against all land 
 owners. 
 
OR 
 
5.2 a) Councillors approve the making of the Extinguishment Order 

 under Section 118 of the Highways Act 1980. 
 
 b) To approve the confirmation of the Extinguishment Order made 
  as a result of (a) above provided no objections or   
  representations are  made within the prescribed period or if any 
  objections or  representations so made are withdrawn. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



 c) If any objections or representations are made within the  
  prescribed period and are not subsequently withdrawn then to 
  refer the relevant order to the Planning Inspectorate for  
  determination. 
 
 
 
 
ELLIS COOPER  
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES  
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
Vaynor 25 File 

 
2014 

 
Rights of Way section 
Unit 5 

 
 
 
 

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

+ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Dear Mr Ashraf 
 

VAYNOR 25 - FOOTPATH 
 
I refer to your letter dated 26th March 2014. 
 
The letter sent out was a pre consultation letter to ascertain views as to the possible 
closure of this footpath. The comments received back in relation to my letter of 6th March 
will all be taken into consideration when the matter is referred back to the next Rights of 
Way Committee on 12th May. The comments you make will form part of this report. No 
decision has been taken as to whether or not this path should be extinguished.  
 
I note from your e-mail that you attended the last meeting of the Vaynor Forum. I have 
also received correspondence from the Vaynor Forum in relation to this issue and a 
response to their letter has been sent direct to them.  
 
Your comments in relation to this being an important route from the Cilsanws reserve to 
the Penmoelallt woodland are noted.  
 
As no decision has been taken to extinguish this path no notices have been placed on site. 
 
The other comments within your e-mail with regard “other questions that need answering”, 
“council responsibilities” and “landowner/occupier responsibilities” are noted. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
C A JONES  
RIGHTS OF WAY PROJECT OFFICER 
 

 
GARY THOMAS M.C.I.H. 
Director of Customer  Services 
Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Cwsmeriaid 

 

     
 
 

 

 
Mr Lynn Ashraf 
Brynhir 
Cloth Hall Lane 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2NT 
   

 

  
 

Uned 5 Unit 5 
Parc Busness Triongl Triangle Business Park 

Pentrebach Pentrebach 

Merthyr Tudful Merthyr Tydfil 

CF48 4TQ CF48 4TQ 

  

  

Ffon : (01685) 725000 Tel : (01685) 725000 

Ffacs : (01685)725024 Fax : (01685) 725024 

  
Dyddiad/Date :      3

rd
 April 2014 

 

  
Ein Cyf/Our Ref.:  CAJ/Con1V25 Llinell Uniongyrchol/Direct Line :  (01685) 726225 
Eich Cyf/Your Ref.:  Gofynnwch am/Please Ask For :  Ms C A Jones 
 e-bost/e-mail: cheryl.jones@merthyr.gov.uk 
  

Page 23



Page 24

This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

+ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Dear Mr Griffiths 
 

VAYNOR 25 - FOOTPATH 
 
I refer to your letter dated 24th March 2014. 
 
At a meeting of the Rights of Way Committee on the 24th February 2014 it was resolved 
that the Rights of Way Department carry out a pre consultation exercise in order to 
ascertain the views of the statutory consultees as to whether or not this footpath could be 
closed. This exercise has been carried out and although you are not a statutory consultee 
your views as expressed in your letter will be taken into consideration when determining 
whether or not the footpath should be closed. Your comments will form part of the report 
that is put before committee on 12th May.  
 
With regard the statutory duties that you refer to within your letter I will deal with the issues 
in the order that you raise them: 
 

1. An enforcement notice was issued upon the owner of Grawen House on 20th 
December requesting the removal of two gates – one at either end of the right of 
way in that section that abuts his garage. These gates are now unlocked but the 
gates remain in situ. 
 

2. The footpath in the vicinity of Upper High Street is fairly regularly cleared and is 
passable in this section. 
 

3. It is the view of the council that the post and rail stile to which you refer is not 
actually on the public right of way. The public right of way veers south immediately 
before the stile. The obstruction at this point is a brick wall. 
 

4. Please advise me of when this was reset together with evidence of what the stile 
looked like prior to this work being undertaken. 

 
I note the recommendation for the Local Authority to perform its statutory duties at the 
forthcoming Vaynor Forum Meeting. 
 

 
GARY THOMAS M.C.I.H. 
Director of Customer  Services 
Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Cwsmeriaid 

 

     
 
 

 

 
Mr Philip Griffiths 
Vaynor Community Forum 
Cefn Coed Community Centre 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2NA 
   

 

  
 

Uned 5 Unit 5 
Parc Busness Triongl Triangle Business Park 

Pentrebach Pentrebach 

Merthyr Tudful Merthyr Tydfil 

CF48 4TQ CF48 4TQ 

  

  

Ffon : (01685) 725000 Tel : (01685) 725000 

Ffacs : (01685)725024 Fax : (01685) 725024 

  
Dyddiad/Date :      3

rd
 April 2014 

 

  
Ein Cyf/Our Ref.:  CAJ/ConV25 Llinell Uniongyrchol/Direct Line :  (01685) 726225 
Eich Cyf/Your Ref.:  Gofynnwch am/Please Ask For :  Ms C A Jones 
 e-bost/e-mail: cheryl.jones@merthyr.gov.uk 
  

Page 25



 
I would also take this opportunity to inform you that at present the Council is only 
undertaking a pre consultation exercise in order to ascertain the views of the statutory 
consultees as to closure of this footpath. No decision has been taken as to whether or not 
this footpath should be extinguished – all comments received will form part of the 
committee report. 
 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
C A JONES  
RIGHTS OF WAY PROJECT OFFICER 
 
 

Page 26



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 13th February 2014  

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 24th February 2014  

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

VAYNOR 25 
 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 
 
To consider the options available with regard Vaynor 25 
 
 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 Vaynor 25 is recorded on the Definitive Map and Statement for Merthyr 
 Tydfil County Borough Council as follows “Map Nos: SO.00 Footpath 
 from the A470 Trunk Road in Cefn Coed leading south to Job’s Lane; 
 approximately 283 metres in length”. It is shown on the plan, Vaynor 
 25.  
 
1.2 No width is given for this footpath. 
 
1.3 This footpath was added to the Definitive Map and Statement by the 
 now defunct Vaynor Urban District Council. 
 
1.4 The route of Vaynor 25 as depicted by a bold line on the plan, Vaynor 
 25, attached to this report commences at Point A, Upper High Street, 
 Cefn Coed (the old route of the A470) and proceeds to terminate at 
 Point G, Job’s Lane. 
 
1.5 Any obstacle along this route that is not recorded in the Definitive 
 Statement is considered to be an unlawful obstruction and is a 
 nuisance at common law. 
 
1.6 Three planning permissions have been granted for development which 
 either directly affect the line of the Public Right of Way or immediately 
 abut the Public Right of Way, see 2.0 – 4.4. 

 

Page 27



  
1.7 6 obstructions occur along this route, see 5.0 – 11.3.  
 
1.8 The right of way has also been interfered with, see 12.0 – 12.3. 
 

2.0 PLANNING PERMISSION 93/0140 
 
2.1 On 25th May 1993 outline planning permission was granted to develop 
 the site of the former Petrol Station, Upper High Street, Cefn Coed.  
 
2.2 Condition 10 of the permission stated “No works shall commence until 
 such time as details regarding the public right of way known as 
 footpath No. 25 Vaynor before details are submitted for the approval of 
 the Local Planning Authority”.  
 
2.3 The reason for imposing this condition was to ensure that the public 
 right of way was dealt with in accordance with the prescribed 
 procedures as laid down under the Town and Country Planning Act 
 1990. 
 
2.4 An informative attached to this permission advised the applicant to 
 consult with the Highway Authority regarding the Public Right of Way 
 before details were submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 
 
2.5 The Rights of Way file is silent as to whether or not any communication 
 was received from the developer. 
 
2.6 Irrespective of that the outline permission has expired.    
 

3.0 PLANNING PERMISSION 93/0213 
 
3.1 On 16th June 1993 full planning permission was granted to develop the 
 site of the former petrol station north of “Ashville” Upper High Street, 
 Cefn Coed, Merthyr Tydfil. 
 
3.2 Condition 5 of the permission stated “No works whatsoever shall 
 commence on site until such time as details regarding the public right 
 of way known as Footpath No. 25 (Vaynor) are submitted for the 
 approval of the Local Planning Authority”. 
 
3.3 The reason for imposing this condition was to ensure that the public 
 right of way was dealt with in accordance with the prescribed 
 procedures as laid down under the Town and Country Planning Act 
 1990.  
 
3.4  This planning permission was implemented and although the rights of 
 way file is silent as to whether there was any communication with the 
 applicant it is accepted that the right of way was not affected by this 
 development.      
 

Page 28



 

4.0 PLANNING PERMISSION 99/0164 
 
4.1 On 2nd July 1999 planning permission was granted to develop the site 
 and curtilage of Grawen Cottages, Grawen Lane, Cefn Coed. This 
 permission allowed for the demolition of cottages and the erection of 2 
 detached houses. 
 
4.2 An informative attached to this planning permission stated at 
 informative 2 “The development hereby approved shall not interfere 
 with the adjoining right of way known as Footpath No. 25”. 
 
4.3 On 12th May 1999 the agent for the owner of the land for which 
 development was subsequently granted on 2nd July 1999 was written to 
 by the Engineering Manager advising him that should planning 
 permission be granted then it would be necessary to apply for a 
 diversion of the right of way. 
 
4.4 A response was received from the owner’s agent stating that a 
 diversion was not necessary as amendments had been made to the 
 planning application.          
 

5.0 OBSTRUCTION AT POINT A 
 
5.1 The public right of way commences at Point A, its junction with the 
 maintainable highway, Upper High Street, Cefn Coed at a stone stile. 
 This stone stile forms part of the dry-stone wall. Although technically an 
 obstruction it is accepted that this stone stile was in situ at the time 
 when the route was recorded in the Definitive Map and Statement. No 
 enforcement action will be taken on this obstruction but when the 
 Definitive Map and Statement requires modification this stile will be 
 recorded in the Statement.  
 

6.0 OBSTRUCTION AT POINT B 
 
6.1 A brick wall measuring approximately 4½ metres in height has been 
 erected. It is not known when this brick wall was erected. 
 

7.0 OBSTRUCTION AT POINT C 
 
7.1 A post and wire fence has been erected. It is not known when this 
 fence was erected. 
 

8.0 OBSTRUCTION BETWEEN POINT C AND POINT D 
 
8.1 Mature vegetation has grown between these two points. These mature 
 trees and shrubs form part of the landscaped garden of the owner of 
 New House. Photographs taken by the rights of way section on 10th 
 July 2007 show this section to be overgrown.  

Page 29



 
8.2 The aerial photographs for 2001, 2003, 2006, 2008 and 2010 have 
 been examined.  
 
8.3 The 2001 aerial photograph has a number of trees within this area and 
 the footpath itself is not clearly discernible. 
 
8.4 The 2003 aerial photograph shows more trees within this area and the 
 footpath itself is not clearly discernible. 
 
8.5 The 2006 aerial photograph shows more trees and the path is not 
 evident. 
 
8.6 The 2008 aerial photograph shows more trees and the path is not 
 evident. 
 
8.7 The 2010 aerial photograph shows more mature trees and the path is 
 not evident. 
 

9.0 INTERFERENCE WITH RIGHT OF WAY BETWEEN POINT 
 D AND POINT E 
 
9.1  Although it is not specifically mentioned within the Definitive Map and 
 Statement the surface of the right of way is earth. Between Point D and 
 Point E the surface has been changed without any communication 
 having been made to the rights of way department.  
 

10.0 OBSTRUCTION AT POINT F 
 
10.1 A gate has been erected at Point F. A photograph taken by the rights of 
 way section on 10th July 2007 shows a metal gate on its side at this 
 point. 
 
10.2 Between Point F and Point G there are also problems with regard to 
 overhanging vegetation. Overhanging vegetation was present prior to 
 Christmas. This has since been removed. 
 

11.0 OBSTRUCTION AT POINT G 
 
11.1 A gate has been erected at Point G. On 22nd April 2007 communication 
 was received from Councillor Tovey that the gate at this point had 
 rusted shut and couldn’t be opened and that the path was very 
 overgrown. Councillor Tovey also requested that the gate be released 
 and the pathway cleared.  
 
11.2 The owner has stated on many occasions that a gate has always been 
 present at this point. 
 

Page 30



11.3 Two notices have been served on the owner to remove this gate. On 
 each occasion that a notice has been served the gate has been 
 unlocked but not removed. The second of the two notices also required 
 the removal of the gate referred to in 10 above.     
 

12.0 BLOCKAGE OF FOOTPATH 
 
12.1 On 22nd June 2001 the owner of New House, Grawen Lane was written 
 to involving a blockage of the footpath. This letter stated “it would seem 
 that you are carrying out repairs to either the footpath or working 
 adjacent to the footpath. If you are carrying out such works then 
 permission should have been sought from this Authority for any 
 possible closure”. 
 
12.2 In response to this letter the owner of New House, Grawen Lane stated 
 “it is quite correct that I blocked the footpath and I did in fact take Mr. 
 Beynon around and explain everything to him. The main reason being 
 that half a dozen youths were using this as an access to Reservoir 
 House instead of the footpath. They had pushed down a stone wall and 
 huge boulders were laying flat on the right of way. 
 I am sure you are aware that I am responsible for the land and I can 
 see myself facing a financial liability if there were any injuries. I am 
 checking this out with my solicitor.   
 I have also found evidence of drug and solvent abuse on my land, as 
 people are not sticking to the path where they can be seen. 
 During the closure period, I have resolved both issues, and the path is 
 now open. May I ask you to help me to clearly identify to everyone 
 where the path lies, which is right through the centre of the land, and 
 not bordering the house on Cefn High Street, about which residents are 
 objecting”. 
 
12.3 With regard signage of the path the highway authority is required to 
 erect a sign where a right of way leaves a metalled road. The sign must 
 indicate the status of that way. The sign can also give destination and 
 distance but there is no requirement that it deals with direction. In 
 respect of this route there is a sign at the Cefn High Street end of the 
 route and a sign at the Grawen Road end. The sign gives the status of 
 the route but does not give length or direction.     
 

13.0 SITE VISIT 1st AUGUST 2008 
 
13.1 On 1st August 2008 a member of the rights of way division attended the 
 right of way and met with the owner of New House through whose land 
 a section of the right of way passes. 
 
13.2 At this meeting the section of the route that passes through this 
 owner’s land was discussed. The owner explained that when he 
 purchased the land there was a farm and that there was an old track 
 that he had decided to keep. The owner pointed out the right of way 

Page 31



 and explained that he had kept the path where it had always been but 
 that he had erected a wall next to it.  
 
13.3 This wall lies immediately to the side of the right of way between Point 
 F and Point G. This wall does not obstruct the right of way. 
 
13.4 The owner also explained that he had spoken with Councillor Tovey 
 and explained that the right of way had been cut back on a number of 
 occasions. The owner also expressed his concerns to Councillor Tovey 
 about the users of the route and the risk of people falling into the 
 quarry within his ownership. 
 
13.5 As the right of way was overgrown the owner pointed out where the 
 route was. Whilst being shown this route it was evident that there was 
 a heras fence blocking the gate to the rear of the property. The owner 
 explained that the fence was there to prevent his dog from straying and 
 that anyone wishing to pass could do so by moving the fence as it was 
 only leaning and not secured by any means. 
 
13.6 Whilst being shown the right of way the owner showed the rights of 
 way officer the quarry and explained his concerns. At the bottom of the 
 quarry the owner pointed out where the right of way ran and then 
 continued to explain that he was concerned that somebody might walk 
 along the path and accidentally fall down the quarry and that he would 
 then face a compensation claim. 
 
13.7 It was explained to the owner that there were two options open to him; 
 either to apply for a diversion or to apply for a stopping up of the right 
 of way.  
 
13.8 The owner was advised to write in expressing his concerns but said 
 that he had already done so and that nothing had been done.  
 
13.9 The owner also stated that the only people who he knew that used the 
 right of way were 2 local men who used the route to go fishing. 
  
13.10 At this time the right of way between Point A and Point B on the plan 
 was clear.            
 

14.0 SITE VISIT 17th MARCH 2011 
 
14.1 A site visit was conducted. At this date the right of way was impassable 
 due to vegetation and this appeared to have been a problem for a 
 number of years. The gate was also locked. 
 

15.0 SITE VISIT 26th APRIL 2013 
 
15.1  On this occasion the owner, the rights of way officer and the rights of 
 way solicitor attended. The path was unable to be walked for any of its 
 length. The section between Point A and Point B was passable but 

Page 32



 requiring cutting back. The section between Point B and Point C ran 
 through the rear garden of Ashville. The section between Point C and 
 Point D was completely impassable due to thick vegetation.      
 

16.0 OTHER ISSUES 
 
16.1 Numerous complaints about the path have been received; these 
 complaints being received via the local councillor, members of the 
 public and the Rambler’s Association. 
 
16.2 Whilst it must be noted that these complaints have been received it 
 must also be acknowledged that sections of this path have been 
 impassable for a number of years.  
 
16.3 Whilst complaints have been received in relation to locked gates at the 
 Grawen Road end and overgrowth in the same vicinity and complaints 
 have been received about overgrowth on the High Street end no 
 complaint whatsoever has been received in relation to either the 
 overgrowth in the central section of the path or the two fences that are 
 at the rear of Ashville. 
 
16.4 It is also evident that if people are walking this route that they are not 
 walking along the line of the right of way. No person walking along the 
 right of way should be anywhere near the top of the quarry face or the 
 Cefn cemetery.  
 
16.5 It is clear from the immediately preceding paragraph that members of 
 the public have not been walking the correct route of the footpath for a 
 number of years as the route has either been obstructed or in places 
 become impenetrable. In the section where there is now mature 
 overgrowth there is no evidence that people have diverted in order to 
 walk the entire length of the route. This does not, however, mean that if 
 the route was cleared that no-one would use it.   
 
16.6 A request was made by Ward Councillor, Howard Barrett, that a 
 member of the Council attended the Vaynor Forum on 20th May 2013.  
 I attended that meeting; the meeting was also attended by the rights of 
 way solicitor and the owner of New House, Grawen Lane.  Discussions 
 ensued in relation to the route. 
  

17.0 THE LEGAL POSITION WITH REGARD OBSTRUCTIONS 
 
Gates and Stiles 
 
17.1 A gate or stile erected other than upon dedication or by, or with the 
 consent of, the highway authority is a nuisance at common law and an 
 unlawful obstruction.   
17.2 The situation here is that no limitation is recorded within the Definitive 
 Statement; i.e. no mention is made of a gate or a stile existing at any 
 point along the route.    

Page 33



 
17.3 Statutory authorisation for a gate or a stile may be given under s147 
 Highways Act 1980 if certain criteria are met. The circumstances under 
 which new gates and stiles can be authorised by the highway authority 
 are limited and the section applies to land being used for agriculture or 
 being brought into use for agriculture. In this instance the term 
 'agriculture' includes forestry. The s.147 provision does not apply to 
 any other class of land, for example, residential land or parkland. Use 
 of land for keeping horses which are not used for agricultural purposes 
 was not considered to be 'agricultural' under the Highways Act 80 but 
 this changed by s69 Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. 
 
17.4 In addition to applying solely to agricultural land, or land being brought 
 into use for agriculture, stiles and gates may only be authorised to 
 control the ingress and egress of animals where it is considered 
 expedient to do so for the efficient use of the agricultural land. The 
 decision of the highway authority is discretionary and there is no right 
 of appeal other than by way of judicial review of the decision in the 
 High Court. There is no power to authorise the erection of a gate on a 
 byway, even if it crosses agricultural land. 
 
17.5 It is quite clear from the preceding 2 paragraphs that authorisation for 
 the erection of the gates could not be given under the Highways Act 
 1980.  
 
Vegetation 
 
17.6 There are two issues with regard vegetation; the first being 
 overhanging vegetation and the second being vegetation growing on 
 the highway. 
 
17.7 Where a hedge, tree, shrub or vegetation of any description overhangs 
 a highway, or any other road or footpath to which the public has 
 access, so as to endanger or obstruct passage of vehicles or 
 pedestrians, or the passage of horse-riders, the highway authority has 
 power under s154 Highways Act 1980 to require the owner/occupier by 
 notice to lop or cut back the overgrowth. An owner/occupier may 
 appeal to the magistrates’ court to have the notice set aside. If, subject 
 to the appeal, the work is not done within the stated period, the 
 highway authority may do it itself and recover the cost from the owner. 
 S154 Highways Act 1980 only relates to vegetation that overhangs the 
 highway from adjoining land. Where vegetation grows on a highway, 
 s154 Highways Act 1980 has no application. 
 
17.8 S41 Highways Act 1980 imposes a duty on the Highway Authority to 
 maintain the highway. 
 
17.9 The case of Hereford and Worcester CC v Newman (1975) dealt with 
 the issue of to what extent this power to maintain extended. In this 
 case the Court of Appeal stated “… that a hawthorn hedge in one 

Page 34



 case and thick undergrowth in the other is actually rooted in the surface 
 of the paths. With some hesitation I am of the opinion that this did 
 cause the paths to be out of repair..” 
 
17.10 Whether a path is out of repair is a matter to be determined by the 
 court according to the circumstances in each case. 
 
17.11 The fact that a path is out of repair is not in itself a ground for 
 extinguishment of a path. 
 
Can the authority be forced to take action 
 
17.12 The user of a path may bring an action against the council to require 
 the removal of an obstruction in the magistrates’ court. Prior to taking 
 action in the magistrates’ court the highway authority would need to 
 have received notification of the obstruction. The user of the path 
 would then follow a statutory procedure.                
 

18.0 THE LEGAL POSITION WITH REGARD INTERFERENCE 
 WITH RIGHT OF WAY BETWEEN POINT D AND POINT E 
 
18.1 S131 Highways Act 1980 makes it an offence to deposit anything 
 whatsoever on any highway so as to damage it. Property is defined by 
 s10 Criminal Damages Act 1971 as being property of a tangible nature, 
 and as belonging to any person who has control of it or any proprietary 
 right in it. It therefore follows that the surface of a publicly maintainable 
 highway, which is vested in the highway authority under s263 
 Highways Act 1980, is to be treated as the property of that authority 
 for the purposes of the section. 
 
18.2 Anyone damaging the surface of a publicly maintainable highway 
 would be committing an offence under s1 Criminal Damage Act 1971 
 unless he is able to rely on the defences contained in s5 of the same 
 Act. These specify that it is a lawful excuse under s1 for a person to 
 have believed that the authority would have agreed to the destruction 
 or damage, or that the act was done in order to protect his property or 
 his right or interest in property where that was in immediate need of 
 protection and that the means of protection adopted were reasonable 
 in the circumstances. It is sufficient in the circumstances to have held 
 the belief honestly, whether or not it is justified. 
 
18.3 It is also possible to take action under s131(1) Highways Act 1980, see 
 18.1 above.           
 
18.4 Any prosecution under either Act would now be statute barred. 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



19.0 THE LEGAL POSITION WITH REGARD “SOLVENT 
 ABUSE” 
 
19.1 The owner of New House, Grawen Lane has said that there are issues 
 relating to solvent abuse along this right of way. It is possible that an 
 application could be made to the highway authority for a gating order to 
 be made.  Gating orders permit access to be restricted, by means of 
 gates across the highway, to the people and at the time specified in the 
 order, but only for crime reduction grounds and to deal with problems 
 of anti-social behaviour. If an application for a gating  order were to be 
 made then the application would need to meet the requirements laid 
 down in the council’s policy.    
  
19.2 The council’s gating order policy is to be found in background papers.  
  

20.0 ENFORCEMENT, DIVERSION OR EXTINGUISHMENT 
 
20.1 There are a number of options available to the council which need to 
 be considered. These are enforcement, extinguishment or diversion. 
 
20.2 The legal background for an extinguishment order is to be found at 
 Agenda Item 4. 
 
20.3 The legal background for a diversion is to be found at Agenda Item 5. 
  
20.4 The council’s enforcement policy is to be found in background papers.   
  
20.5 Whilst a diversion could be looked at this would require an application 
 to be made by the owners due to the issues of compensation that may 
 become payable under s28 Highways Act 1980.    
 

21.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
21.1 All three of the options available to the council have financial 
 implications for the council. 
 
21.2 Enforcement action will require the council to issue a notice. This 
 notice may be appealed in the magistrates’ court leading to a hearing.  
 
21.3 If not appealed then the council may have to undertake the work 
 themselves and then reclaim the costs. 
 
21.4 If an extinguishment order is made then there may be an inquiry if 
 objections are received.  
 
21.5 If a diversion application was to be received from the owners or one of 
 the owners there may be an inquiry if objections are received.    
 
 

Page 36



22.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
 
22.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqlA) is not 
 required for the purpose of this report. 
 
 

23.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
23.1 Enforcement action be taken to clear the right of way against all land 
 owners.  
 
OR 
 
23.2 Discussions be undertaken with landowners as to a possible  diversion. 
 
OR 
 
23.3 The necessary pre consultation exercise with regard extinguishment 
 of the footpath is undertaken. 
 
AND 
 
23.4 The matter be returned to the next available rights of way committee. 
 
 
 
 
 
GARY THOMAS 
DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
Vaynor 25 

 
14th February 2014 

 
Unit 5 

  

Page 37



Page 38

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 39



Page 40

This page is intentionally left blank



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 1st April 2014 

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 12th May 2014 

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

VAYNOR 33 
 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 

 

To obtain committee approval to correct errors within a Public Path Creation 
Order by making a Definitive Map Modification Order. 
 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 A Public Path Creation Order was made in 2008 under the Highways 
 Act 1980 in regard to Vaynor 33.  
 
1.2 The Grid References stated in the Creation Order do not correspond 
 with the accompanying map. As the grid references and the map do 
 not correspond Committee approval is required to correct this 
 discrepancy. 

2.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 

 
2.1 A notice advertising this order will need to be placed in the local 
 newspaper and on site.  These costs will be met out of the existing 
 budget. 
 

3.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
3.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of 
 this report and no negative effects have been identified. 
 

4.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
 a)  Definitive Map Modification be made to correct the   
  discrepancies. 

 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 41



b) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 
 Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
 representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
 objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
c)  If any objections or representations are made within the 

 prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
 the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
 determination. 

 

 

 

ELLIS COOPER 

DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES  

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
Vaynor 33 

 
April 2014 

 
Rights of Way section 
Unit 5 

 

Page 42



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 1st April 2014 

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 12th May 2014 

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

VAYNOR 34 
 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 

 

To obtain committee approval to correct errors within a Public Path Creation 
Order by making a Definitive Map Modification Order. 
 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 A Public Path Creation Order was made in 2008 under the Highways 
 Act 1980 in regard to Vaynor 34.  
 
1.2 The Grid References stated in the Creation Order do not correspond 
 with the accompanying map. As the grid references and the map do 
 not correspond Committee approval is required to correct this 
 discrepancy. 

2.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 

 
2.1 A notice advertising this order will need to be placed in the local 
 newspaper and on site.  These costs will be met out of the existing 
 budget. 

3.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
3.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of 

this report and no negative effects have been identified. 
 

 

 

Agenda Item 8

Page 43



4.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 

 
4.1 a) A Definitive Map Modification be made to correct the   
  discrepancies. 

 
b) To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 

 
c) If any objections or representations are made within the 

prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
determination. 

 

 

 

 

 

ELLIS COOPER 

DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES  

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
Vaynor 34 

 
April 2014 

 
Rights of Way section 
Unit 5 

 

Page 44



 MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000   www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 

RIGHTS OF WAY REPORT 
 

Date Written 30th April 2014 

Report Author Cheryl Jones 

Service Area Economic Development 

Committee Date 12th May 2014 

To: Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen 

VAYNOR 35 
 

 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT: 

 

To obtain committee approval to correct errors within a Public Path Creation 
Order by making a Definitive Map Modification Order and to divert a section of 
the footpath and to extinguish a section of the footpath. 
 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 A Public Path Creation Order was made in 2008 under the Highways 
 Act 1980 in regard to Vaynor 35.  
 
1.2 The Grid References stated in the Creation Order do not correspond 
 with the accompanying map. As the grid references and the map do 
 not correspond. Committee approval is required to correct this 
 discrepancy. 
 
1.3 On 15th January 2014 an emergency prohibition of pedestrians notice 
 was made prohibiting anyone from using this path due to a landslide 
 that occurred following the inclement weather. Subsequent to this an 
 order was made prohibiting use of the footpath by the general public. 
 This order is due to expire on 14th July 2014. A request will be made to 
 Welsh Government to extend this prohibition order. 
 
1.4  Whilst the Prohibition of Pedestrians Order is in force the council need 
 to consider its options with regard this footpath. 
 
1.5 The footpath commences at Point A on the plan, Vaynor 35, a car park 
 near the Aberglais Pub and proceeds through the Taff Fechan nature 
 reserve to terminate at Point D, a point just beneath the A465 Heads of 
 the Valleys Road. Following the landslide in January a section of the 

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 45



 footpath at Point B collapsed. The section of the footpath that was 
 affected by the landslide has ceased to exist and as such the section 
 that was “washed away” has ceased to be a right of way.  
 
1.6 Vaynor 35 is now to all intents and purposes a footpath in two sections; 
 a section to the north of Point B and a section to the south of Point B. 
 
1.7 With regard the section to the north of Point B, this runs from the car 
 park near the Aberglais pub, past an electricity sub-station and then 
 proceeds to the northern end of the landslide where it now terminates. 
 Another footpath also runs through this car park. It is therefore 
 proposed that this section of the footpath be extinguished from the 
 Definitive and Statement as it now leads nowhere. 
  
1.8 With regard the section to the south of the landslide at Point B there is 
 no longer any way of accessing this path from the north, If the path is 
 accessed from the south then it leads nowhere as the landslide is now 
 a dead end. However, if one walks from Point D in a northerly direction 
 it is possible to follow the path to Point C where one would need to 
 divert and follow a path which leads onto Public Right of Way Vaynor 
 34 which also runs through the Taff Fechan nature reserve. North of 
 Point C there is no possibility of diverting onto any other public footpath 
 due to the topography of the land. It is therefore proposed that this 
 section of the footpath be diverted at Point C and that it then proceeds 
 to Point E where it joins Public Right of Way footpath Vaynor 34.  
 
1.9 The legal background for an extinguishment order is to be found at 
 Agenda Item 4.     
 
1.10 The legal background for a diversion order is to be found at Agenda 
 Item 5.               

2.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 

 
2.1 Notices advertising the relevant orders will need to be placed in the 
 local  newspaper and on site.  These costs will be met out of the 
 existing budget. 
 

3.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
3.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared for the purpose of 
 this report and no negative effects have been identified. 
 

4.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 

 
4.1  

a) A Definitive Map Modification be made to correct the discrepancies. 

Page 46



 
b)  To approve the confirmation of the Definitive Map Modification 

 Order made as a result of (b) above provided no objections or 
 representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
 objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 
 

c)  If any objections or representations are made within the 
 prescribed period and not subsequently withdrawn then to refer 
 the relevant Order to the Planning Inspectorate for 
 determination. 

 

Following the confirmation of the Order 
 
4.2 a) A Public Path Diversion Order be made to divert that section of 
  the right of way that runs from D – C – B to run from D – C – E. 
 
 b) To approve the confirmation of the Public Path Diversion Order 
  made as a result of (a) above provided no objections or  
  representations are made within the prescribed period or if any 
  objections or representations so made are withdrawn. 
  
 c) If any objections or representations are made within the  
  prescribed period and are not subsequently withdrawn then to 
  refer the relevant order to the Planning Inspectorate for  
  determination. 
 
And 
 
4.3 a)  An extinguishment order be made in respect of the footpath that 
  runs between Point A and Point B 
  
 b) To approve the confirmation of the Extinguishment Order made 
  as a result of (a) above provided no objections or   
  representations are  made within the prescribed period or if any 
  objections or  representations so made are withdrawn. 
 
 c) If any objections or representations are made within the  
  prescribed period and are not subsequently withdrawn then to 
  refer the relevant order to the Planning Inspectorate for  
  determination. 
 
ELLIS COOPER 

DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICES  

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
Vaynor 35 

 
April 2014 

 
Rights of Way section 
Unit 5 

 

Page 47



Page 48

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 49



Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Basic Guidance on the law relating to Orders to be made under Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Section 257
	4 Guidance on the law relating to the extinguishment of public rights of way under the Highways Act 1980
	5 Cyfarthfa 62
	Plan

	6 Vaynor 25
	Response to Mr Ashraf
	Response to the Vaynor Forum
	Vaynor25  -  feb 2014 report
	Vaynor 25  -  Plan  -  Feb 14 report

	7 Vaynor 33
	8 Vaynor 34
	9 Vaynor 35
	Plan


